## FILED

07/22/2024

Bowen Greenwood

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA See Number: DA 23-0023

### Cause No. DA 23-0023

### CITY OF MISSOULA

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

MARK FOLLWEILER

Defendant and Appellant.

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, the Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding

### **APPEARANCES:**

CHAD WRIGHT Appellate Defender Office of Public Defender

DARCY ANN CRITCHFIELD, Attorney at Law, PLLC P.O. Box 21452 Billings, MT 59104 <u>darcymtcrimlaw@gmail.com</u> (406) 672-7182

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

 Whether the district court erred when it concluded that two prior out-of-state DUI convictions must be counted to enhance Follweiler's Montana DUI sentence as a third offense.

(2) Whether Follweiler received ineffective assistance from his counsel, who failed to examine evidence in the record and argue that two prior out-of-state DUI convictions should not be counted to enhance his sentence as a third offense.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The City of Missoula charged Follweiler with DUI (drugs) for an offense that occurred on May 11, 2021. The City relied on two prior DUI convictions in Missouri and Pennsylvania to enhance his DUI sentence as a third offense.

Follweiler received ineffective assistance from his counsel, who failed to examine the Missouri DWI documents and argue that the prior DUIs should not be counted to enhance Follweiler's sentence as a third offense. Follweiler motioned in city court to exclude the DUI convictions, arguing, in part, that they were too old and that the city failed to prove the statutes from the out-of-state DUI convictions are "substantially similar" to Montana's.

Missoula Municipal Court denied Follweiler's motion, ruling that the City's Response demonstrated "substantial similarity" between the out-of-state statutes and Montana's and that both convictions must be counted to enhance his DUI sentence in line with penalties for a third offense.

Follweiler appealed the decision to the Fourth Judicial District Court, which affirmed the municipal court's decision and remanded the case for sentencing consistent with its opinion.

Follweiler pleaded "nolo contendere" to the DUI offense, reserving the right to appeal, and the city court sentenced him to a third offense.

Follweiler timely appealed.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Follweiler pleaded not guilty in Missoula Municipal Court to an

amended charge of DUI under Mont. Ann. Code § 61-8-401 (1) (b). (drugs) that occurred on May 11, 2021. (MMC 5/27/2021) The City relied on two prior DUI convictions in Missouri (2000) and Pennsylvania (2011) to enhance his sentence for a third offense. (MMC 1/26/2022)

Follweiler received ineffective assistance from his counsel, who failed to examine the Missouri DWI documents and argue that the prior DUIs should not be counted to enhance Follweiler's sentence as a third offense. (MMC 6/03/2022) (MMC 6/25/2022) (DC Doc. 4) (DC Doc. 8) (MMC 8/08/2022 at 6, ¶ 2)

Follweiler motioned, in city court, to exclude the out-of-state convictions on several grounds, including that the prior convictions are over ten years old (MMC 6/03/2022 at 1, ¶ 1) and that the prior DUIs were not charged as drug DUIs; thus were not similar to Montana's 'charges.' (MMC 6/03/2022 at 3, ¶3, at 4, ¶ 1)

The City argued that the DUI statutes in Pennsylvania in 2009 and Missouri in 1999 are "substantially similar" to Montana's because the measures of impairment and definitions of culpability in the respective statutes contained similar language. (MMC 6/21/2022 at 712) The City included exhibits of documents related only to the Pennsylvania DUI, while the Missouri DWI documents were not included. (MMC 6/21/2024 at exhibits 1-8)

The Municipal Court denied Follweiler's motion, ruling, in part, that the City's response demonstrated "substantial similarity" between the out-of-state statutes and Montana's (MMC 8/08/2022 at 6, ¶2) (App. A) and that the "Defendant had two prior DUI convictions and if convicted a third time, both prior convictions shall be used for sentencing purposes." (MMC 8/08/2022 at 3) (App. A)

Follweiler pleaded "nolo contendere" and entered into a Plea agreement with the City, reserving sentencing pending appeal to the district court. (MMC 8/15/2022, Motion for Conditional Change of Plea)

Follweiler filed the "Motion and Brief RE: Out of State Charges" in the district court, arguing essentially the same grounds outlined in the city court motion, except he abandoned the "substantially similar" argument, retaining the argument of irregularities in the underlying Pennsylvania DUI records. (DC Doc. 4) His district court motion included records of the Pennsylvania DUI conviction only. (DC Doc. 5)

4

The City filed its response in district court with the same arguments outlined in its city court response, including an analysis of the out-of-state statutes similar to those of Montana. (DC Doc. 8 at 3-8) The City included exhibits of the Pennsylvania DUI (DC Doc. 9) and the Missouri DWI documents, consisting of a "Criminal Docket Sheet," "Guilty Plea with Counsel," and a two-page "Sentencing Order." (DC Doc. 10)

The district court affirmed the Municipal Court's denial of his motion and remanded the case for sentencing consistent with its opinion. (DC Doc. 12 at 2) (App. B).

Follweiler timely filed this appeal.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Follweiler pleaded "nolo contendre" in Missoula Municipal Court to a DUI (drugs) as a third offense. The City counted two prior convictions in Missouri and Pennsylvania to enhance his sentence to a third offense.

Follweiler's attorney motioned to exclude the out-of-state charges, but he did so without examining the evidence. Follwieler's counsel was ineffective when he failed to argue, with supporting evidence in the record, that Follweiler's Missouri DWI is not a qualifying conviction.

Missouri's DWI statute does not contain any mandatory minimum sentence and allows for a fully suspended sentence, whereas Montana's DUI sentencing statute has no such provision. Missouri's DUI statutes are dissimilar to Montana's.

Once the Missouri DWI is ruled out as a non-qualifying conviction, the Pennsylvania DUI should be treated as a first conviction. This leaves Follweiler's Montana DUI to be sentenced as a second offense. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734 requires a ten-year look-back for a secondoffense DUI, not a lifetime, as would be the case if Follweiler's Montana DUI were a third offense.

The Pennsylvania conviction occurred on March 17, 2011. The Montana DUI offense occurred on May 11, 2021, ten years, one month, and twenty-four days after the Pennsylvania conviction. Therefore, the Pennsylvania conviction should not be counted because it falls outside the ten-year look-back period. Follweiler's Montana DUI should be sentenced under the penalties of a first offense instead of the penalties of a third offense.

The district court did not review the evidence in the record to make a finding of fact that the City had, in fact, presented competent proof or that they had proven the prior convictions are "qualifying convictions" to count when enhancing his sentence to a DUI third offense.

Follweiler has a due process guarantee against sentences predicated on misinformation. The record indicates Follwieler's Attorney did not refute factual errors presented by the City, thereby prejudicing Follweiler when he received a harsher sentence with penalties for a third-offense DUI instead of a first-offense.

The district court ruled in error that the City must count two prior DUI convictions in Missouri and Pennsylvania to enhance his sentence to a third offense.

#### **STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

On appeal of a district court's appellate review of a lower court ruling, the lower court ruling is reviewed as if appealed directly to the Court without district court review. *State v. Maile*, 2017 MT 154, ¶ 7, 388 Mont. 33, 396 P.3d 1270.

Upon independent review of the lower court record, the Court's standard of review is whether the lower court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous, whether its conclusions of law are correct, and, as applicable, whether the lower court abused its discretion. *State v. Davis*, 2016 MT 206, ¶¶ 5-6, 384 Mont. 388, 378 P.3d 1192.

A lower court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous only if not supported by substantial credible evidence; the lower court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or the Court is left with a firm and definite conviction that the lower court was simply mistaken. *Maile*,  $\P$  8.

The Court will generally defer to a lower court's findings of fact but review its conclusions of law and application of legal standards de novo. *State v. Kaufman*, 2002 MT 294, ¶ 12, 313 Mont. 1, 59 P.3d 1166.

Whether a prior conviction may enhance a criminal sentence is a question of law that we review for correctness. *State v. Krebs*, 2016 MT 288, ¶ 7, 385 Mont. 328, 384 P.3d 98.

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are mixed questions of law and fact, which the Court reviews de novo. *State v. Oliver*, 2022 MT 104, ¶ 21, 408 Mont. 519, 510 P.3d 1218.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. The district court erred when it ruled that two prior outof-state DUI convictions must be counted to enhance Follweiler's Montana DUI sentence to a third offense.

Follweiler pleaded "nolo contendre" in Missoula Municipal Court to a Driving Under Influence (drugs) charge under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401(1)(b), a third offense. The City relied on two prior convictions, in Missouri (2000) and Pennsylvania (2011), to enhance his sentence to a third offense. (MMC 1/26/2022)

This court has provided direction when determining whether a prior conviction qualifies to enhance a DUI sentence to a third offense.

First, the City must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the conviction is supported by "competent proof" that it occurred and that the record is complete and sufficient to show the type of DUI charged, the state law related to the charge, or judgment. *Krebs*, ¶ 19.

In *Cooper*, this Court held that "to present evidence of a prior

conviction in a sentencing proceeding, there must be competent proof that the defendant, in fact, suffered the prior conviction." *State v. Cooper*, 158 Mont. 102, 489 P.2d 99 (1971). This court's prior cases have found competent proof in a defendant's Certified Driving Record and the underlying court records. *State v. Letherman*, 2023 MT 196, ¶ 10, 413 Mont. 459, 537 P.3d 862 (citations omitted).

In the present case, although the record does not include Follwieler's Certified Driving Record or NCIC, the City submitted competent proof with copies of the underlying records. The parties relied solely on the underlying court records to make their arguments.

Second, once the City presents "competent proof," the defendant must overcome the "presumption of regularity" attached to prior convictions with direct evidence of irregularity in the underlying record. *State v. Mann*, 2006 MT 33, ¶ 15, 331 Mont. 137, 130 P.3d 164.

Follweiler concedes that the City provided competent proof of two prior out-of-state convictions and that no irregularity was present that would render the records unreliable. Third, if the defendant is unsuccessful in refuting the City's competent proof, the City must still prove it is a "qualifying" prior conviction. *Krebs*,  $\P$  2.

In *Krebs*, the defendant wasn't challenging the existence or validity of his 1988 DUI in Colorado; he was challenging whether it was a "qualifying conviction" that could be counted to enhance his penalty to felony status. The state had the burden to prove a qualifying conviction; however, they failed because the record was inadequate to demonstrate that the charge was for blood alcohol content instead of ' under the influence,' which mattered because a BAC conviction in Montana in 1988 could be expunged. *Krebs*, ¶ 19.

In the past, this Court has analogized sentencing procedures for multiple DUI convictions to those for repeat felony offenders. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-502; *State v. Nelson*, 178 Mont. 280, 284, 583 P.2d 435, 437 (1978).

As is the case here, it is common for defendants to disqualify an out-of-state conviction by comparing the statutes under which the conviction occurred to determine if they are "substantially similar" to Montana's at the time of the offense. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734(1)(a); State v. McNally, 2002 MT 160, 310 Mont. 396, 50 P.3d 1080.

When one state does not have an equivalent statute or provision similar to Montana's DUI laws at the time of the offense, the conviction may not qualify to count for enhancement of a DUI sentence. *State v. Cleary*, 2012 MT 113, ¶ 24, 365 Mont. 142, 278 P.3d 1020.

In the present case, Follweiler's attorney motioned to exclude the out-of-state charges in city court. (MMC 6/03/2022) However, he failed to examine the evidence in the record. As a result, the motion did not include arguments related to the Missouri DWI for the court to consider. As noted in the City's denial of the motion, Follweiler's counsel provided little legal argument or evidentiary support for the arguments he presented. The motions are riddled with conjecture, factual errors, and conclusions without a supporting legal argument. (MMC 8/08/2022 at 1, ¶ 2, at 2, ¶ 1, at 3, at 5, ¶2, at 6, ¶1, at 6 ¶2 ) (App. A) (MMC 6/03/2022) (MMC 6/25/2022) (DC Doc. 4) (DC Doc. 11)

#### A. The Missouri DWI Conviction

The statutory framework of Montana and Missouri establishes separate and distinct offenses for driving under the influence and for driving with excessive blood alcohol concentration. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401 -714 (1999), (2009), (2021). Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-406 -722 (1999), (2009), (2021). Mo. Rev. Stat. § 577.010 (1999), (App. C at 6) Mo. Rev. Stat. § 577.012 (1999), (App. C at 7). Missouri Code Manual, 1999-2000. (App. C at 8)

The Missouri DWI documents are competent proof consisting of three key documents: "Criminal Docket Sheet" (App. C at 2), "Guilty Plea with Counsel" (App. C at 3), and "Sentencing Order" (App. C at 4-5) (MMC 8/26/2022, records with Request for Transmittal, 1-4) (DC Doc. 10).

The "Criminal Docket Sheet" indicates Follweiler was charged and sentenced under Driving While Intoxicated, Mo. Rev. Stat. § 577-010 (b) (1999) by reference to charging code "47420". (App. C at 2) (App. C at 8) (MMC 8/26/2022, request for transmittal at 1-4) (DC Doc. 10). It should be noted that he was *not charged* with Mo. Rev. Stat. § 577-012 (b) (1999) (App. C at 2) code "47480", (App. C at 8) for Excessive Blood Alcohol Concentration in line with Montana's BAC charge under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-406 (1999).

Montana's 1999 Driving Under Influence sentencing statute, Mont Code Ann. § 61-8-401, requires a minimum jail time of 24 hours and a minimum fine of \$100 for a first-offense DUI. Missouri has no similar statute mandating 24 hours in jail or the required fine for a first offense DWI. The penalty for a first DWI in Missouri is a two-year fully suspended sentence on probation. (App. C at 6)

According to the Missouri DWI "Sentencing/Probation Order," dated January 11, 2000, Follweiler received a two-year suspended sentence, no jail time, and 100 hours of community service under Mo. Rev. Stat. § 577.010 (1999) for his Missouri DWI. (App. C at 4-5) This is a sentence outside the mandatory minimum sentencing parameters of the statute, as he did not serve 24 hours in jail and did not have to pay a minimum fine of \$100.00. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-714 (1999).

The DUI sentencing statute Mont. Code Ann. § 61-7-714 (1999) provides an exception to the mandatory minimum jail time. "[T]he mandatory imprisonment sentence may not be suspended unless the judge finds that the imposition of the imprisonment sentence will pose a risk to the defendant's physical or mental well-being." There is no evidence in the record that Follweiler could have been granted such an exception. (App. C at 2-5)

Follweiler's case is analogous to *Cleary* because the Missouri DWI sentencing statute is dissimilar to Montana's. In *Cleary*, this Court agreed with the defendant that the judicial clemency portion of the sentence in South Dakota had no similar counterpart in Montana and that such a disposition could not be equated to a conviction under Montana law for enhancement purposes. *Cleary*, ¶ 24. This Court said that they "decline to import into Montana a portion of an out-of-state DUI sentencing scheme, the remainder of which is not similar to Montana's DUI sentencing law." *Cleary*, ¶ 24.

Without the mandatory minimum 24-hour jail time, the Missouri sentence would be illegal in Montana because it falls outside the statute's parameters. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-714 (1999). The Missouri DWI conviction is not qualifying and should not be counted to enhance his sentence to a third offense.

### **B.** The Pennsylvania DUI Conviction

Once the Missouri DWI is ruled out as a non-qualifying conviction, the Pennsylvania DUI should be treated as a first conviction. This leaves the Montana DUI to be sentenced as a second offense. However, Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734 (2021) requires a ten-year look-back for second-offense DUIs, not a lifetime, as would be the case if the Montana DUI charge were a third offense. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734 (2021).

The Pennsylvania DUI conviction occurred on March 17, 2011. The Montana DUI offense occurred on May 11, 2021, ten years, one month, and twenty-four days after the Pennsylvania conviction.

Therefore, the Pennsylvania conviction should not be counted because it falls outside the ten-year look-back period. Follweiler's Montana DUI should be sentenced under the penalties of a first-offense DUI instead of those for a third offense. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734 (2021).

In its opinion, the district court concluded that "[T]he opinion [in Cleary] makes it clear that Montana courts routinely consider foreign law. Notably, Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734 practically requires Montana courts to consider foreign law when deciding whether an out-of-state DUI conviction arises from laws sufficiently similar to Montana's. " (DC Doc 12, page 12 ¶ 1) (App. B)

The district court concluded that Follweiler had not overcome the "Presumption of Regularity." (DC Doc 12, Page 10 ¶1) (App. B)

Without referring to the Missouri DUI records, the district court states, "The City explains that the Pennsylvania documents make this reference in implicit recognition of his 2000 DUI conviction in Missouri, which would make his Pennsylvania conviction his second. The Court finds this explanation very plausible- and much more plausible than Follweiler's curious explanation that it means he has two Pennsylvania DUI convictions and the City has no evidence of his first." (DC Doc 12, Page 10 ¶ 2) "In any case, the Court is unpersuaded by Follweiler's claim of irregularity. He had the initial burden here and *did not meet it.*" (DC Doc 12, Page 11 ¶ 1) (App. B)

The district court did not comment on the City's conclusion (DC Doc. 12) (App. B) or the City Court's ruling, which stated, "Thus, this Court must conclude that the Missouri and Pennsylvania DUI statutes are substantially similar to Montana's and that the Defendant had two prior DUI convictions." (DC Doc. 8, page 8,  $\P$  5) (MMC 8/08/2022, page 6,  $\P$  2)

The district court made no finding of fact about Missouri and Pennsylvania convictions as qualified to count to enhance Follweiler's sentence. The district court did not discuss the Missouri DUI specifically because Follweiler's counsel didn't present the evidence in the record. (DC Doc 12) (App. B)

The district court, nonetheless, remanded the case to Missoula Municipal Court for further proceedings consistent with this opinion" (DC Doc. 12 at  $1 \P 3$ ) (App. B)

II. Follweiler did not receive effective assistance from his counsel, who failed to examine evidence in the record and argue that two prior DUI convictions should not be counted to enhance his sentence to a third offense.

Defendants "may raise only record-based ineffective assistance of counsel claims on direct appeal." *State v. Pine*, 2023 MT 172, ¶ 34, 413 Mont. 254, 548 P.3d 390. This Court "distinguish[es] record-based from non-record-based claims based on whether the record fully explains why counsel took, or failed to take, a particular course of action." *State v.* 

*Meredith*, 2010 MT 27, ¶ 51, 355 Mont. 148, 226 P.3d 571. "Where ineffective assistance of counsel claims are based on facts of record in the underlying case, they must be raised in the direct appeal and, conversely, where the allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be documented from the record in the underlying case, those claims must be raised by petition for post-conviction relief." *State v. White*, 2001 MT 149, ¶ 12, 306 Mont. 58, 30 P.3d 340.

This Court reviews IAC claims under the two-prong test the United States Supreme Court articulated in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). *State v. Mikesell*, 2021 MT 288, ¶ 19, 406 Mont. 205, 498 P.3d 192 (citations omitted).

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