08/30/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0023

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0023

CITY OF MISSOULA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

V.

MARK FOLLWEILER,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, The Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN

Montana Attorney General

THAD TUDOR

Assistant Attorney General

215 North Sanders

P.O. Box 201401

Helena, MT 59620-1401

Phone: 406-444-2026

thad.tudor@mt.gov

KEITHI WORTHINGTON

Interim Missoula City Attorney

435 Ryman St.

Missoula, MT 59802

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The municipal court correctly determined that Follweiler's Missouri DUI conviction was under a statute similar to Montana's DUI statute. The words used in both statutes are synonymous and the statutes include virtually identical elements. Follweiler attempts to distinguish the statutes, claiming without authority

⁴ The sentence Follweiler received would be illegal if this Court determines that the Missouri conviction was not under a statute similar to Montana's statute, as this would also preclude using the Pennsylvania conviction from 2011 for sentencing enhancement. (*See* Appellant's Br. at 16; *see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-714(1)(a) (2017) ("a person convicted of a first violation of 61-8-401 shall be punished by imprisonment for not less than 24 consecutive hours or more than 6 months").) Thus, despite his attorney's failure to raise the issue before the district court, Follweiler qualifies for appellate review pursuant to *State v. Lenihan*, 184 Mont. 338, 602 P.2d 997 (1979).

that since the Missouri DUI statute did not include a mandatory 24-hour jail sentence, as Montana's did at the time, the Missouri conviction cannot be used for sentencing enhancement. This is contrary to the unambiguous language of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734, which contains no requirement that a prior conviction include an identical sentence to what the defendant would have received in Montana.

Because there is no legal authority to support Follweiler's argument, there is no basis to allege IAC for his counsel's failure to raise the argument that the Missouri DUI conviction statutes were not similar. The municipal court correctly determined that the corresponding DUI statutes were similar, and, because the current offense was Follweiler's third DUI, the State was required to use his Missouri conviction for purposes of sentencing enhancement. Even if Follweiler could establish IAC, he could not establish that he was prejudiced by his attorney's failure to pursue a meritless argument.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

Whether a prior conviction can be used to enhance a criminal sentence is matter of law, which this Court reviews de novo for correctness. *State v*.

Wellknown, 2022 MT 94, ¶ 11, 408 Mont. 411, 510 P.3d 84 (citations omitted); *State v. Ailport*, 1998 MT 315, ¶ 6, 292 Mont. 172, 970 P.2d 1044.

IAC claims are mixed questions of law and fact, which this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Wright*, 2021 MT 239, ¶ 7, 405 Mont. 383, 495 P.3d 435 (citations omitted).

II. The 2000 Missouri DUI conviction was under a statute that was similar to Montana's DUI statute.

For purposes of determining prior convictions for DUI sentencing enhancement, "conviction" includes a "conviction for a violation of a similar statute or regulation in another state." Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734(1)(a) (2019). The determination of whether the defendant has been convicted in another state is to be made by reference to that state's law. *Ailport*, ¶¶ 18-19 (the judgment of a state should have the same credit, validity, and effect, in every other court of the United States, that it had in the state where it was pronounced).

In determining whether a prior conviction pertains to "a violation of a similar statute . . . in another state," this Court compares the out-of-state statute in effect at the time the offense was committed to the Montana statute in effect at that time. *State v. Polaski*, 2005 MT 13, ¶ 12, 325 Mont. 351, 106 P.3d 538 (emphasis omitted). "[I]f another state's law allows a person to be convicted using a lesser standard than would be required in Montana for a conviction, the statutes are not

similar for purposes of § 61-8-734(1)(a), MCA." *Polaski*, ¶ 22 (citing *State v*. *McNally*, 2002 MT 160, ¶ 22, 310 Mont. 396, 50 P.3d 1080).

Where Montana law has no counterpart to another state's DUI offenses because the other state's provisions provide for a lesser standard or "gradations of culpability," this Court has not found the necessary similarity to count the prior out-of-state conviction towards felony sentencing. *See State v. Young*, 2012 MT 251, ¶ 16, 366 Mont. 527, 289 P.3d 110; *McNally*, ¶¶ 22-23.

In *McNally*, for example, Montana had no counterpart and no "similar gradations of culpability" comparable to Colorado's driving while ability impaired (DWAI) statute, which allowed for a conviction by a lower standard than Montana's DUI statute. *McNally*, ¶ 22.

On the other hand, when out-of-state convictions were made under laws similar to Montana's DUI statute, this Court has affirmed using the prior convictions from those states as sentencing enhancements. *See, e.g., State v. Hall,* 2004 MT 106, ¶¶ 20-22, 321 Mont. 78, 88 P.3d 1273 (Washington DUI and per se offenses analogous to Montana's); *Polaski,* ¶¶ 20-22 (California's BAC and DUI statutes sufficiently similar to Montana's); *Young,* ¶¶ 13, 16 (Idaho's DUI statutory language "nearly identical to Montana's DUI statute").

For purposes of using a conviction for DUI sentencing enhancement, this

Court has never required that another state's DUI statute be identical to Montana's.

See, e.g., Young, ¶¶ 18-19 ("essentially the same" standard; "similar enough"); Hall, ¶¶ 20, 22 ("analogous").

Follweiler concedes that the State provided "competent proof" that he was convicted of a DUI in Missouri. (Appellant's Br. at 10.) There is no question that the prior offense was a "conviction" in Missouri and would have been in Montana, as defined by Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(16). *See, e.g., State v. Cleary*, 2012 MT 113, ¶ 24, 365 Mont. 142, 278 P.3d 1020:

The South Dakota DUI does not meet this standard, as there was not a "conviction" in South Dakota as the term is defined under Montana law ("a judgment of conviction [and] sentence entered upon a plea of guilty or . . . upon a . . . finding of guilty . . . by a court of competent jurisdiction . . ." per § 45-2-101(16) MCA.

At the time of Follweiler's 2000 Missouri DUI conviction, Montana's DUI statute provided:

- 61-8-401. Driving under influence of alcohol or drugs. (1) It is unlawful and punishable, as provided in 61-8-442, 61-8-714, and 61-8-731 through 61-8-734, for a person who is under the influence of:
- (a) alcohol to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle upon the ways of this state open to the public;
- (b) a dangerous drug to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle within this state;
- (c) any other drug to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle within this state; or
- (d) alcohol and any dangerous or other drug to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle within this state.

Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401 (1999).

"Under the influence' means that as a result of taking into the body alcohol, drugs, or any combination of alcohol and drugs, a person's ability to safely operate a motor vehicle has been *diminished*." Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401(3) (1999) (emphasis added). "Diminished" means "that a person's ability to safely operate a vehicle is 'reduced or to a lesser degree." *State v. Olson*, 2017 MT 101, ¶ 16, 387 Mont. 318, 400 P.3d 214 (quoting *Polaski*, ¶ 22).

In Missouri, the relevant statute provides:

- 1. A person commits the crime of "driving while intoxicated" if he operates a motor vehicle while in an intoxicated or drugged condition.
- 2. Driving while intoxicated is for the first offense, a class misdemeanor. No person convicted of or pleading guilty to the offense of driving while intoxicated shall be granted a suspended imposition of sentence for such offense, unless such person shall be placed on probation for a minimum of two years.

R.S. Mo. § 577.10 (1999) (Appellant's App. C at 6.)

Missouri defines "intoxicated condition" as "under the influence of alcohol, a controlled substance, or drug, or any combination thereof." *State v. Walter*, 918 S.W.2d 927, 928 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996). "Missouri courts have also recognized that a driver is in an 'intoxicated condition' for purposes of a DWI prosecution if his use of alcohol [or drugs] *impairs* his ability to operate an automobile." *State v. Schroeder*, 330 S.W.3d 468, 475 (Mo. Ct. App. 2011) (citations omitted; emphasis added).

Whether an individual's ability to operate a motor vehicle is "diminished" or "reduced" by alcohol or drugs, as proscribed by Montana, or "impaired," as prohibited by Missouri, is a distinction with no discernable difference. The words are synonymous. As this Court determined while comparing similar language between the Montana and California DUI statutes,

California's standard of "impaired to an *appreciable* degree" is not a lesser standard but rather would be a standard equal to or greater than our "diminished" standard. Therefore, California's and Montana's "under the influence" statutes are sufficiently similar for purposes of § 61-8-734(1)(a), MCA (2001). As a result of a similar standard in both California and Montana, Polaski could have been convicted in Montana in 1996, 1997 and 2001, for the same conduct for which he was convicted in California.

Polaski, ¶ 22 (emphasis and quotations in original).

Likewise, Missouri's standard of "impaired," is a standard equal or identical to Montana's "diminished" standard. Follweiler does not contend otherwise.

Rather, he suggests that because Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401 (1999) required 24 hours of incarceration for a first-time DUI offense, and Missouri did not, the statutes were not similar for purposes of enhancement. (Appellant's Br. at 14-15.) Follweiler relies on dicta from *Cleary* to suggest that the South Dakota DUI statutes were not similar to Montana's because their respective sentencing provisions were not the same. (*Id.* at 15 (citing *Cleary*, ¶ 24).)

However, the issue in *Cleary* was that the defendant's prior DUI conviction had been expunged and removed from his driving record. *Cleary*, ¶ 10. This Court

held that the expunged South Dakota DUI did not meet the definition of a "conviction" for purposes of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734(1)(a). *Id.* ¶ 24. This Court concluded, "Cleary's South Dakota offense was neither a conviction nor a sentence for Montana purposes, and that the expungement of the charge precludes it from being counted as a previous conviction for sentence enhancement purposes." *Id.* ¶ 25.

Follweiler does not contend his Missouri DUI conviction was expunged or removed from his record, nor could he. He admits that the State submitted "competent proof" that he had a prior "conviction" (Appellant's Br. at 10) and had been "sentence[d]" (*id.* at 14) for the DUI in Missouri. In other words, Follweiler has expressly conceded the issues that were contested in *Cleary*: "Cleary argues that he was never 'convicted' or 'sentenced' for the per se offense in South Dakota." *Cleary*, ¶ 20. Because Follweiler's 2000 Missouri DUI conviction was not expunged or removed from his record, this Court's holding in *Cleary* is inapposite.

The plain language of the statute defining what prior DUI convictions must be used for sentence enhancement states, in relevant part, "For the purpose of determining the number of convictions for prior offenses . . . 'conviction' means a final conviction, as defined in 45-2-101, in this state, [or a] conviction for a violation of a similar statute or regulation in another state" Mont. Code Ann.

§ 61-8-734(1)(a) (2019). Further, if the current offense is the defendant's "third or subsequent . . . all previous convictions must be used for sentencing purposes."

Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734(1)(b) (2019) (emphasis added).

Lastly, "Conviction' means a judgment of conviction and sentence entered upon a plea of guilty or nolo contendere or upon a verdict or finding of guilty of an offense rendered by a legally constituted jury or by a court of competent jurisdiction authorized to try the case without a jury." Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(16).

These statutes are unambiguous and contain no language that requires an out-of-state conviction to include a mandatory 24 hours of jail time as part of the sentence to qualify as prior convictions. The court in Missouri sentenced Follweiler after his plea of guilty to DUI under a statute similar to Montana's, and the current offense constituted his third or subsequent DUI. Therefore, the Missouri conviction "must" be used to enhance the sentence. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734 (1)(b) (2019).

III. Follweiler has not met his heavy burden of establishing he was prejudiced by alleged IAC.

A. Applicable law

This Court reviews IAC claims by applying the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). A defendant arguing IAC has a

burden to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *State v. Valenzuela*, 2021 MT 244, ¶ 29, 405 Mont. 409, 495 P.3d 1061 (citing *Baca v. State*, 2008 MT 371, ¶ 16, 346 Mont. 474, 197 P.3d 948).

If an insufficient showing is made regarding one prong of the test, there is no need to address the other prong. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697. "If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed." *Id*.

To establish prejudice under the second prong of *Strickland*, a defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* The likelihood of a different result must be "substantial." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

B. Follweiler has not shown IAC and cannot meet the prejudice prong of Strickland.

To support his claim of IAC, Follweiler alleges that his trial attorney "failed to examine the evidence in the record." (Appellant's Br. at 12.) "As a result, the motion [to exclude convictions] did not include arguments related to the Missouri DWI for the court to consider." (*Id.*) Follweiler elaborates, "It was Follweiler's

counsel's burden to prove that Missouri's DUI was not a 'qualifying conviction,' which he failed to do." (Appellant's Br. at 26.)

In the context of utilizing prior convictions for sentence enhancement, this Court has stated, "It is the State's burden to 'prove[] the fact of a prior conviction." *State v. Krebs*, 2016 MT 288, ¶ 18, 385 Mont. 328, 384 P.3d 98 (quoting *State v. Okland*, 283 Mont. 10, 17, 941 P.2d 431, 435 (1997)). "And the State must do so by presenting 'competent proof that the defendant in fact suffered the prior conviction." *Krebs*, ¶ 19 (quoting *State v. Lamere*, 202 Mont. 313, 321, 658 P.2d 376, 380 (1983)).

As Follweiler concedes, "[the State] provided competent proof of two prior out-of-state convictions and that no irregularity was present that would render the records unreliable." (Appellant's Br. at 10.) Therefore, the only question with respect to using the Missouri conviction for sentencing enhancement is whether it was under a statute that was similar to Montana's DUI statute at the time.

Follweiler's argument is that since Missouri did not require 24 hours of mandatory jail on a first time DUI, as was the case in Montana, the Missouri conviction did not qualify as a conviction that could be used for enhancement.

(Appellant's Br. at 23.) This fails to acknowledge the plain language of the statutes that mandate when prior convictions "must" be used for DUI sentencing enhancement.

The explicitly stated requirements to use an out-of-state conviction for DUI sentencing enhancement were that the conviction was "for a violation of a similar statute or regulation in another state" (Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734(1)(a) (2019)), and that he was sentenced for that conviction⁵ (Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(16)). Follweiler's current argument that the Missouri conviction was required to include 24 hours of mandatory jail time to be used for sentence enhancement purposes is demonstrably meritless.

Montana Code Annotated § 61-8-734 does not require that a specific amount of jail time be served before a prior conviction may be used for DUI sentencing enhancement. The statutory definition of "conviction" requires that the individual has received "a judgment of conviction *and sentence* entered upon a plea of guilty" Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(16) (emphasis added). There is no reference to the amount of jail time served in either statute. Further, there is no requirement that the sentence imposed be identical to what the defendant would have received in Montana.

Pursuant to Follweiler's plea of guilty (Appellant's App. C at 3), the Missouri court sentenced him on January 11, 2000 (*id.* at 5). Barring an expungement, Follweiler's Missouri conviction qualified for purposes of

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